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ROWE, P.:

The legal profession in Jamaica ﬁas not adopted any
comprehensive standard form of agreement for the sale of
land in Jamaica. When the appellant wished to sell and ghe
respondent agreed to purchase a property called Security,\7
part of Mount Nelson, Mandeville, the directors of the
appellant company and the respondent went along to
Mr, John McFarlanc an attorney-at-law in Mandeville, and he
acting for both parties, drew up an agreement for sale in
which Mr. McFarlane accepted the carriage of sale. A document
of utmost simplicity on a single sheet of paper has spawned
hundreds of pages and tens of thousands of words in

interpretation. Probably the cenveyancing branch of the
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iegal profession will one day conclude that the more
acceptable practice is for seller and purchaser to be
represented by sceparate attorneys.
This apreement for sale provided that possession
be given te the purchaser on July 1, 1979, only 4 days
after the signing of the agreement. At the time of the
agreement for sale a house stood on the land and there was
a special agreement that the vendor would repair the roof
at his sole expense and that the purchaser would accent the
premises with an existing tenant. Consideration for the
purchase was expresscd to be 80,000 Jamaican dollars pay-
able as to $30,000 on the execﬁtion of the agrecment and
the balance within twelve months from the dato thereof.
T¢ that extent the actuzl date for complction was flexible,
allowing thc purchaser to take advantage of a full twelve
nmonths if he was sc minded. The balance of purchase pricc
was not paid up to June 26, 1580, and there is documentary
evidence in a letter from the appellant’s agent of November
20, 1980 contending that the time for payment was extended by
three months to the end of September, 1980. However, an
allegation was made by the respondent in his rcply to the
defence and counter-claim, and repcated in evidence, that
the time for payment was extended indefinitely on his payment
to the appellant of a2 sum of 200 Canadian dollars monthly,
pending the sale by him of his house in Canadua. The respondont
maintained that as a result of an oral agrecemcnt with the
appellant's agent, he paid a sum of 10,000 Canadian dollars
on June 19, 1980, towards the balance of the purchase price.
An approach was made by the respondent through his
attorney-at-Law to the Jamaica National Building Society for
a mortgage loan with which to pay some portion of the

outstanding purchase price. To facilitate such a loan, the
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appellant handed the title for the Security pronerty to
Mr. MclFarlane. Corresnorndence between the Building Society

and the respondent reveal that the respondent was both
dilatory and negligent in the completion of the applicatio
for the loan, and before the processing could be concluded,
the zppellant took the unfriendly step of advising tie

b

Buildirne 3ociety that the proposed sale had been aborted.
That led the Building Society to discontinue its very
advanced negotiations with the respondent, peiding the
amicable settlement of the matter between the vendor and
purchaser, This was in summary the effect of the letter of
Februavry 11, 1981, from the Jamaica National 3Suilding Society
to the respondent, copied to Fr. YMcFarlane. An earlierx
letter of the Building Scciety to Mr. McFarlane of January
12, 1981 made it clear thot there was tﬁen no resl difficult
in the way of the Society granting the application for the

nortgage lcan,

Four important pieces of correspondence must be

examined. A letter from the appellant to the respondent
of November 206, 19280, was in these terms:

i 11/208/80.

Vincent,

When we last met we agreed on an
extansiOf of three months - (July, Aug.
§ Sept.) for a fee which you have paid
along with amounts advanced to vou.

You have not informed me as to what have
hapnened nor what may be expected so as

to determine if a further extension may

be considered.

Your chegue deted 11/11/80 arrived only
today which would be in respect of
October, if an extension beyond the
Septemberwaéadllne had been agreed to.
Such fees are payable in advance. The
cheque is enclosed,

—try
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"In your best interest you should let me hear
from you immediately, advising how soon the
deal may be closed, and the factors on which
consideraticn may be given to grant a further
extension, The last scale of fee will apply
but must be up to date for any proposal to
be considered.

N

It is needless to repeat how anxious I am to
finalize this transacticn, hence I look for-
ward to hearing from you by return mail or
phone.

S5ame,
ALVIN, ©

About this letter, the respondent said in evidence
that Alvin Chin, managing director of the appecllant conpany
had never at any time mads any advance to him as was referred

Q”\ to in the first paragraph. Chin gave no evidence to

account for the basis upon which he accepted the respondent's
cheque for C€$10,000.00 on June 19, 1980.

Next came a letter of December 4, 1589, addressed
to Attorney John McFarlane by the appellant, in which it was
said inter alia:

T Re: Ourselves to Vincent Williams et al

Reference is made to an Agreement of Sale per
subject which provided for a closing on June
30, 1980,

The Williams were subsequently cxpected to close
by no later than September 30, 1980, failing
which they should have made reprcsentations to
seck a further extension.

In the absence of their making such representation
and in view of the courtesies and patience alrepdy
accorded at this point in time we consider and
so declare that the Williams have forfeited and
possession of the property must be reverted to ts.”

This was a letter rescinding the agrecment of sale male

on June 26, 1979,

Y
1 i

Another letter written by the appellant to the

respondent dated December 14, 1980, contained the statement

that:
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“In any transaction such as this, time

is of the essence and accordingly, you
have forfeited. That is to say you hsave
not kept your end of the agreement,
therefore you have given up your right
thereunder."”

Mr, Williams denied receiving this letter.

Notwithstanding the letter to Mr. McFarlane of December
4, 1980, he continued c¢fforts to conclude the mortgage loan.
Other lawyers entered the picture and on January 17, 1981,
0.G. Harding § Co. gave a formal notice of re-possession,
in these terms:

"TAKE NOTICE that Contract for Sale dated
the 26th day of June, 1979 between ycu and
Manchester Beverages Limited of No. 37
Mandeville Plaza Mandeville in the parish
of Manchester for the purchase of Lots
#24 and 25 part of Mount Nelson in the
parish of Marichester being the launds
registercd at Volumes 1089 and 1141
Folios 503 and 437 respectively has
expired by the e¢ffluxions time being the
25th day cf June 1980 and TAKE FURTHER
NOTICE that the registered proprietors
have this day veentered the said lands
and resume posscssion and will hold you
liable for any loss, damages or waste
which may have occurred during your
possession and will take such steps as they
nay be advised for the forfeiture of any
deposits paid under the Agreement and or
for damages for breach of Contract and for
the recovery of any loss incurred by rea-
son of your delay defaults and failure to
complete. "

The respondent declined to accept rescission of the
agrecment. After a series of explanatory letters, suit was
filed cn September 21, 1981, claimihg specific performance
and damages in addition toc or in lieu of specific performance.
The appellant relied on its letters of December 4, and 14,
1980, and notice of January 17, 1981, and denied that the
rcspondent was entitled to any of the reliefs scught. As
counter-claim the appellant claimed damages for breach of

contract, recovery of possession and refund of mesne profits
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at the rate of $400 per month with interest to the date
of recovery of possession. In substance the reply

to the defence and counter-claim focussed upon thc
allegaticn that no notice was given to the respondent
making time of the essence of the contract, that tho
conduct of the appellant between June 19 and December 30,
1580, was such as to estop the appellant from claiming
that the contract was not still valid and subsisting,
that in the circumstances in which the respondent was put
in possession of the property, he had no obligation to
account for rent or mesne profits and that having regard
to the substantial payments made by the respondent,; he

should be relieved from rescission or forfeiture.

Alexander J. (Ag.) decreed specific performance and ordered:

"The defendant is ordered to transfcy to the
plaintiff the said parcels of land upon the
plaintiff paying to the defendant the
balance of the purchase price and such other
sums incidental to the transfer of the said
property.

The balance of the purchase nrice will be
that sum left after deducting the sum of
$10,000.00 (Canadian) paid by the plaintiff
to Alvin Chin by cheque dated 19th June,
1980, at the rate of exchange applicable

in June, 1980, and all sums due are to be
paid to the defendants within 90 days of
the date of judgment.

The vendor is therefore entitled to interest
on the unpaid balance of the purchasc price
to date. The unpaid balance of the
purchase price, on my findings, would amount
to upwards of $35,000 (Ja.). Fixing a
reasonable rate of interest to that unpaid
balance could, in my view, earn to the
vendor,a sum equivalent to the rental
collected monthly, that is to say, 2 sum of
$400.00 (Ja.).

It therefore follows that the rental collected
by vendor, could be equivalent to the sum

the nlalntlff would have been entitled to pay
as interest on the unpaid balance of the
purchase price. In these circumstances,

there is, therefore, no award to the vlaintiff
for damages.”
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The appellant complained, and Mr. Macaulay argued, that

it was incompetent for the court to interpret the terms of thu

-

written contract relating to the sale of land as having been
varied unless the parties themselves had made such o subsequent
variation in writing. He centended that under the agrecment
of June 26, 1979, a term of the contract was for payment to b
made in Jamaican dollars and in no other currency. In what
circumstances were the 10,000 Canadian dollars paid? The
respondent said in evidence that he and Alvin Chin, the managing
director of the appellant company went along to their attorne -
at-Law, had a discussion and as a result came to an arrangcment
by which he would pay to Chin C$10,000 and Chin would give hin
a mortgage for the balance, This method of performance was
entircly different from that contemplated in the agreement

for sale, but what secems clear is that the parties did not

have the intention thereby to cancel the basic agrecment for
the sale and purchasc of the property. Had the respondent
tendered to the appellant a bundle of Canadian dollars or

as he did a certified cheque in Canadian currency without mor:,
the gquestion as to whether there was a later cellateral
agreement might not have arisen. But in the mind of the
respondent when he made the payment in Canadian dollars he was
cxpecting the payment to have a further effect upcn the contract
which would mean that he would not have the obligation to mak.
other cash payments to the appellant as the appellant would te
carrying the mortgage. In my view, this oral agreement

was . attempt to vary the written contract for the sale of
1aqdarﬁ iv unenforceable by virtue of the provisions of the

Staturz ¢t Frauds. What Kelly, C.B. said in Tyers v.Rosedgie

h

and Ferryhill Iron Co. Ltd. [1873] L.R. Exchequer, 305, at

p. 315 1is applicable to this case:
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Tt is now established that a new verbal
contract cannot be substituted for the
original contract, where by the Statute
of Frauds such original contract must
be 1n writing.™

ind so too,what Lord Atkinson said in British and

Bonninghton's Ltd. v. North Western Cachar Tea Company Ltd.

[1923] A.C. 48 at 56-57.

"It will be observed that this parol agreemcnt,
not void but admittedly unenforceable at law
under the fourth section of the Sale of Goods
Act, 1893, only dealt with one of the several
matters dealt with in the original agsrcement
of purchase and sale concluded betwecu the
appellants and respondents - namely, the
place of delivery. The seven other stipula-
tions of the original agreement already
mentioned were left untouched. The arbitrator
has not found within what time this parol
agreement was to be performed, nor has he
found whether the parties entered into it with
a view to substitute it for the original
agreement (which would 2mount to a rescission
by parol of the latter) or whether they entered
into it with a view of merely varying by parol
the original written agreement in respect of
one of its terms, the place of delivery, which
is the very thing that cannot legally be done:
Morris v. Zarcon § Co. [191&] A.C.1.

(Emphasis added).

Lord Sumner whosc opinion followed that of Lord Atkinson,
at page 68, said:

"Not only did that agreement deal only with

a portion of the whole subject mattcr of ecach
of the original contracts, but it related
only to the allowance to be paid for taking
delivery at places in Scotland and not ex
bonded warehouses in London. It did not
include the cases where tea was at Plymouth
or in an unbonded warehouse in London, to
which the original contracts remained
applicable, as they were applicable or had
been allied to the large quantities of tea,
about which we know nothing except that they
were covered by the contracts.

Under these circumstances it is plain that the
three original contracts were not made 2n end
of on May 12, 1920, but were meant at most to
be subjected to a variation or alteration as
to the manner and measure of performance of
the original terms. The change does unot go
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"to the very root of the original contracts
nor is it inconsistent with them: it merely
varied the wvitten contract by perol, the
situation of the parties being otherwise
unchanged. I, therefore, think that the
agrecment de facto of May 12, 1920, has no
effect on the original contracts, not
having been reduced into writing and signed
by the buyers, and not having supcrseded the
original contracts."

(Emphasis added).

Neither in the correspondence exhibited nor in the
pleadings did the appellant acknowledge the payment by the
respondent of the C$10,000. A conscquence of this silencc
is that this sum cannot be credifed to the purchase price
of J$80,000.

I am in complete agreement with the learned trial
judge who found that the appellant's letter of November 20,
1880, clearly treated the agreement for sale as being in
force and capable of extcnsion as to time of payment if
suitable arrangements could be made. Time had not becn
made of the essence of the contract in the agreement of
June 26, 1979, and in my opinion nothing contained in the
corresvondence up to December 4, 1980, either expressly or
impliedly made time of the essence. Test the matter this
way, could anyone say with any degree of certainty on whicl
date either the appellant or the respondent cxpeccted the
agreement to be closed? If the appellant was concerned
about delay in concluding the contract, he had the most
¢imple recourse. He ougzht to have put an end to the
procrastination by setting a definite date beyond which the
appellant was not prepared to go. This he did not do.

The letter of December 4 expressed the firal position of
the appellant that the land was no longer for sale and that
the contract was no longer of any validity. The respondent
declined to accept the position adopted by the appellant

and called for completion. Notice of re-possession of
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January 17, 1981, proferred the reason as being that the
contract had expired by effluxion of time on June 25, 1980.
This allegation was contradictory of earlier correspondence
{from the appellant and especially of the letters of
November 20, December 4 and December 14, 1980, emanating
from the appellant. The notice of re-possessicon made no
reference to time being of the essence cf the contract.

Where in a contract for the sale of land time is not
made of the essence of the contract expressly or by virtue
of the nature of the property, or impliedly, from the
surrounding circumstances, if a party fails tc perform
within the contractual time, the innocent party may not
rescind the contract without giving reasonable notice to
the offending party making time of the essence. This was
the effect of the decisicn of the House of Lords in

Etickney v. Keeble et al [1914-1915] A1l E.R. Rep. 73, and

approved and applied by thce Privy Council in an appeal from

the British Caribbean Court of Appeal in Ajit v. Sammy

(19671 1 A.C. 255, the headnote of which reads:

"Where the time fixed for completion was

not made the essence of the contract, the
vendor might serve on a purchaser who had
been guilty of unnecessary delay a notice
limiting a time at the expiration of which
he would treat the contract as at an end,
and in determining the reasonablencss of

the time sc limited the court would comsider
not merely what remained to be done at the
date of the notice, but all the circumstances
of the case, including the previous delay of
the purchaser and the attitude of the vendor
in relation thereto; that the question
whether the notice was sufficient was a
question of fact ....... %

The appellant, not having given notice to the responcent
making time of the cssence of the contract, the appellant
was not entitled to rescind the contract on December 4, 198(
or Januvary 17, 1981. As a result the order for specific

performance ought not to be disturbed.
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11,

Alcxander J. (Ag.) correctly decided on the principles

adumbrated in Raineri v. Miles and Another [1580G] 2 All E.RE.

145 that on the failure of the respondent to pay the purchase

price on June 30, 1980, the eppellant was entitled tc claim

i

damages for breach of contract. However, he elected to

I

accept a fee of C$200 ver month as the price of the extensicn
presumably as interest on the unpaid balance. This fee was
referred to by the appellant in the letter of November 20,
1880, as ''the last scale of fee™. I think that this rate

of interest should continue to exist as a genuine estimate

of the damages suffered by the appellant until January 17,
1¢81, when the appellant wrongly re-possessed the property.

I do wot think that the appellant would be entiiled to damagus
for non-performance after January 17, 1981.

In my view, the order made by Alexander J. (Ag,) should
be modified in part. His order that the sum of C$i0,00¢0
paid by the respondent to Alvin Chin by cheque dated 19th
June, 1930, should be deducted from the purchase price ought
to be set aside. The respondent did not cross-appeal and
conse¢auently no account can be takern in his favour of the
fact that the appellant had the down-payment of $30,000
since 1979, and in addition the appellant has had in his
possession for his own use and benefit since January 1671
the property agreed to be sold.

The only aspect of the counter-claim which in my
opinion should be determined in favour of the appellant is
his claim for damages between September 30, 1980, and
January 17, 1981, at the rate of C{200 per month. This sum
when converted at the current rate of exchange should be
added to the balance of $50,000 of the purchase money.

I would therefore allow the appeal in part, as set

out above, and rescrve the question of costs for argument.
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WHITE, J.A.

i do not intend to recapitulate the facts giving rise
to this appeal from the judgment of Alexander, J.A. {Ag.}, as
the facts have already been set out in the judgment of Rowe, P,

Nor de I intend to address the issue of the failurc
of the appellant to have made time of the essence of the
contract, which disentitled him from rescinding the contréct
according to the circumstances of this case. I agree that
the learned trial Judge was right when he ordered specific
performance of the agreement for sale in writing made

appellant
between the plaintiff/respondent and the defendant/dated the
22nd June, 1979 for the sale of the land part of Mount Salem,
Manchester, registered at Volume 1089 Folio 503 and Volume

1101 and Folio 437.

I will direct my particular attention to the

. defendant .
complaint by the/appellant in the Original and Supplemental

Grounds of Anpeal that:

“2. The Jamaican Defendant Company was to
rcceive the balance of 350,000 in Jamaican
dollars under the Agrecement dated 26th
June, 1979, The learned judge wrongly
impliedly found that there was a variation
of this term of the agreement by his order
that the Canadian dollars paid to one of
the Directors of the Jamaican Company was
to be deducted from the balance of the
purchase money due to the Jamaican
Defendant Company in Jamaican dollars'.

The matter of this sum of $10,000 (Canadian) came
to light when in his statement of claim the plaintiff/res-
. defendant
pondent plcaded that he had paid to the fappellant company the

sum of $30,000 on the signing of the agreement, and further

sums amounting to $14,783 in Canadian currency towards the

balance of the purchase price and interest agreed on. The defen i

appellant by his amended defence and counterclaim admitted
the agreement for sale and the payment of the $30,000
abovementioned, but denicd that it had received any further
sums under the contract. The plaintiff/respondent in his

reply to the amended defence and counterclaim pointed out
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that Mr. Alvin Chin the servant and/or agent of the defendant/appelicnt

had been paid these sums. These poyments were after a mutual
agreement that time for completion be extended on the basis of
a payment of $202 (Canadian) monthly, as interest on the
balance of the purchase money. Pending the sale by the
plaintiff/respondent of other property owned by him, and in
pursuance of the said variation of the agreement the
appellant
plaintiff/respondent paid the said Defendant /through its
servant and/or agent, Mr. Alvin Chin, the sum of $10,000
(TEN THOUSAND LOLLARS - CANADIAN) on the 19th June, 1980 and
further sums totalling $1,600 (ONE THOUSAND SIX HUNDRED
DOLLARS - CANADIARN) between the 7th August, 1980 and the
30th December, 1980,
Details are given of these last payments. And in
fact evidence was given by the plaintiff/respondent
regarding the $10,000 Canadian. He told the trial judge
that after the expiration of the twelve months sct for the
completion of the agreement for sale, he and Mr. Chin, (who
had himself signed the agreement for sale which bears the
seal of the appellant), went to Mr. McFarlanejR%torney-at-law?
who had carriage of sale. The discussion they held ended in
the arrangement that the plaintiff/resnondent would pay
$10,000 Canadian to Mr. Chin, who said he would raise a
mortgage for the balance. The plaintiff/respondent further
said:
“"He then changed his mind by saying he
would not give the mortgage to mec anymore,
ke weuld leave it open until I sold nmy
house and paid him. The interest was
$200 per month (Canadian)’.
Be it noted that it is not clear from the Record when Mr. Chin':s
change of mind took place. Nor did the defendant/appellant
by any further pleading deal with the payment of the Canadian
money. Nor did Mr. Chin or anyone on behalf of the

defendant/appellant give evidence in the case. So that at
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nd of the day the learned trisl judge was left with two
unchallenged facts relevant to the immediate discussion, viz.
Mr. Alvin Chin was the agent of the defendant/apnellant
engaged in the transaction of the sale of the abtovementioned
parcel of land, and tikat Mr. Vincent Williams, the plaintifi/
respondent, had paid to him this money on account of the
purchase price. To put the matter beyond a peradventure of

2 doubt let mc quote from the judgment:

iR

....the evidence discloses that the
plaintiff . was payilng monthly sums
to Mr. Chin from October 6, 1979. Based on
the terms of the original agreement, having
made the initial payment of $30,00C, no
payment were due until June, 1i880".

The learned trial judge did not acceovt the
plaintiff/respondent’s evidence that all payments made to
Mr. Chin were ‘'payment towards the purchase price and
interest”. He was, therefore, careful tc identify those
payments which scemed to be "more consistent with some
separate transaction with Chin'. Apart from such payments he
found as a fact that "The payments aficr that scem consistent
with the arrangement the plaintiff/respondent svoke of, that
is $10,000 and interest at $200 per month". Accordingly, he
found that the $10,690 Canadian was paid on account of the
purchase pricce in pursuance of the terms of the written

contract.,

Mr. Macaulay argued that the consideration was
$60,000 Jamaican. The payment made was in $30,000 Jamaican.
It was therefors wrong, in effect, for the learned trial
judge to have ordered that the §10,000 Canadian should be
converted into the Jamaican equivalent and to be taken into

account to arrive at thoe balance owing by the plaintiff/

respondent to the defendant/appellant. Mr. Macaulay

criticises this order with the comment that a court cannot

vary the terms of a written contract relating to land unless
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the parties themselves had varied it. Nor can the court
interpret that a written contract has been varied by . parol. In
respondent

however, the plaintiff/had already pleaded thc mutual
agreement of the parties to the variation of thc agreement
albeit with reference to the time within which the plaintiff/
respondent should completc the transaction. As a rcsult of
such variation the abovementioned paymeats were agrecd upon
and made. If Mr. Mrcaulay is correct it must follow that
the plaintiff/appellant would have been without any remedy
which he sought in the action. This would be so because the
variation would mean that the action was brought in respect
of a contract relating to land which by statute must be in
writing, but had beem varied by an oral contract. In the
result the action was on a2 contract partly written and
partly oral,

In support of his stand he cited the cases of

Goss v. Lord Nusent 5 B. Ald. 538, 110 Z.R. 713; (1824-34)

k4

A1l E.R. Rep. 205; Tyers and Others v. Rosedalec § Ferryhill

Iron Co. Ltd. (1873) & L.R. Ex. 305 {1874-380C) All E.R.

Rep. 607; and Hartisy v. Hymans(1921) 124 L.T. 31; (1920)

A1l E.R. Rep. 328. Thesc cases he arpuced, show that the

judge failed to appreciate that the variation had no legal

effect because of the operation of the Statute of Frauds.
Examining the cases cited 1t should first be noted

that Goss v. Lord Nugent was a case brought on a written

contract for the salc of land. The defendant agreed to
waive the necessity of a good title being made as to one of
the lots mentioned in the contract of sale. Although the
defendant had been let into possession, he refused to pay
the remainder of the vurchase-money and relied on his
objection of the title. Denman, C.J., adverted to the
offect of the Statute of Frauds s.4 and observed on the

facts of the casc (1824-34) All E.R. Revp. at p. 303:

Tac

F
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"It may be said by the plaintiff that this
does not in any degree vary what is to be
done by either party; that the same land

is to be conveyed, there is to be the same
cxtent of interest in the land, and it 1is
to be conveyed at the same time, and the
same price is to be paid, and that it is
only an abandonment of a coilateral point.
But we think that the object of the Statute

<‘\ cof ¥rauds was to exclude all oral e¢vidence
- as to contracts for the sale of lands, and

that any contract which is sought to be
enforced must be proved by writing only.

In the present case, thc written contract is
not that which is sought to be cnforced, it
is a new contract which the parties have
entcred into, and that new contract is to be
oroved, partly by the former written agree-
ment, and partly by the new verbal agreement;
the present contract, therefore is not a
contract entirely in writing; and as to titlc
being collateral to the land, the title appears
te us to be a most cssential part of the
contract; for if there be not a good title,

‘ the land may, in somc instances, better not
( ; be conveyed at all; but our opinion is not
Tormed upon the stipulation about the title
being an essential part of the agreement but
upon the general effect and meaning of the
Statute of Frauds, and that the contract now
brought forward by the plaiatiff is not
wholly a contract in writing'.

Two noticcable features of this case stand out.
Firstly, the plaintiff/respondent had sued on the contract =s
varied. Secondly, as Denman, C.J. indicated, *the title
appears to us to be 2 most essential part of the contract®.
o Nor should it be overlooked that as part of the judgment the
learned Chicf Justice mentioned this:

“"Tnere have been some cases at law on contracts
within the Statute of Frauds, where verbal
evidence has been allowcd; Warren v. Hagg

cited in Littler v. Holiand (179G) 3 Term

Rep. 590; 100 E.R. 749, Thresh v. Ralie (17832)
1 Esn. 53, and Cuff v, Penn (1813) 1 M W 21;
105 E.R. 8. These were cases where the time
for performance of the contract had been
enlarged by a verbal agreement, and they were
decided on the ground that the original

= contract continued, and that it was only a
( J substitution of diffeveont ways of performance.

It is not necessary to say whether these cases
were rightly decided:; if they were so, still
the present is a different case, for here,
without doubt, the terms of the original
contract were varied’.

Tyres and Others v. Rosedalc & Ferryhill Coal Co. Ltd.
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arose upon the allceged breach of a contract for the sale of
goods. Delivery was to be made in monthly quantities over
1871. The question was what was the e¢ffect of postponement
by agreement from time to time of delivery of monthly
instalments? The forbearance to make delivery was at the

request of the plaintiffs. Kelly, C.R2.

o
7

and Pigott, B.,
held that the nlaintiff themselves having requested the
defendants to forbear from delivery during the several months
of 1871 up to November, could not require delivery of the
rcsidue of the whele 2,000 tons (originally ordered) in
December, and were therefore not entitled tc recover. In
tiie judgment of the majority, (Kelly, C.Z. and Pigott, B.),
it is stated that “the written contract sued on is a totally
different contract, and so a new contract and to be binding
in law must have been made in writing”. This was so because
it was
"necessary to imply a new contract - no such
implication can arise where it so materially
alters the condition <f Doth parties - an
tmplication which may never have occurraed to
the mind of the party agzainst whom 1t is to
operate, and which may sceriously prejudice
his interests, and cxposc him tc an

indefinite amount of inconvenicence and loss®.
(The emphasis is ming)

Martin, B., dissented from the foregoing, and held
that the origimal contract had not been put an end to by the
plaintiff’s appiication to the defendants wmot to deliver
full monthly quantities between Februzry and Movember 1871,
and that the defendants were bound to dzliver the whole

2,000 tons under the contract.
2

Hartley v. Hypans 21so was @ case involving the

sale of goods to be delivered within a certain period of
time. Tt was held that the buyer's ripbt to require delivery
within that period may be waived even after that period has

zxpired, where after the cxpiration of the periocd, the buycr
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by his letters and conduct leads the seller to entertain the

belief that the contract still subsists, and to act upon

that belief at serious expense to himsclf. A new agreement

may be implied that the period for delivery is extended and

that delivery may take place within a recasonable time of

which notice is to be given by the buyer. The plaintiff

seller in this case was entitled to succeed.

Mr. Macaulay did not cite any other case, contenting

himself to the passing reference that Hartley v. Hymans reviews

all the authorities on the point. This case does illustrate

one aspect of the rule that a written contract relating to

land can only be¢ varied by ancther written document and not

('? by parol.

on the point of waiver by the defendant.

"Held: in an ordinary commercial contract for
the sale of goods time was prima facie of the
essence of the contract with respect to
delivery, but that condition could be waived.
In the present case, after the final delivery
date the defendant had demanded and received
deliveries under the contract and so had
waived his right to assert and was estopped
from asserting, that the term of the contract
as to date for the final delivery was still
binding on the plaintiff; on the construction
of the correspondence passing hetween the
parties there must be implied a new agreement
that the contract period should be extended
beyond November 15, 1918. That agreement
could not be terminzted by the defendant
except by a reasonable notice requiring the
plaintiff to deliver the undelivered balance
of the goods; and therefore the plaintiff

was entitled to succeed'.

In the further amplification of the views of

McCardie, J., I quote the following passage which occurs

at p. 338:

~N

"In my view the facts and documents here
clearly call for one or more juristic bases
on which to support the plaintiff's claim.
First, I hold that here¢ the defendant waived
his right to insist that the contract period
terminated on November 15, 1918. Waiver is
not a cause of action, but a man may be
debarred by the doctrine of waiver from
asserting that an original cendition

The headnote reads:

McCardie, J. founded his judgment for the plaintiff
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“precedent is still omerative and binding.

n view, moreover, ¢f the fact that the
nlaintiff acted (at great expcense to himself)
upen the footing that the wsiver had taken
place, 1t weuld, I conceive be wrong to
allow the defendant to insist on the terms of
the original contract as to time. Secondly,
I hold that (in so far as estoppel differs
from waiver) the defcendant is estopped from
saying that the period four delivery expired
on November 15, 1918, or from asserting that
the contract ccased to be valid on that date.
Inasmuch as the defendant led the plaintiff
to telieve, by letters as well as by conduct,
that the contract was still subsisting, and
inasmuch as the plaiptiff acted on that belief,
at serious expense to himself, it would be
unjust to allow the defendant to assert that
the delivery period e¢nded on November 15,
1918...., Thirdly, I hold that upon the letters
passing between the parties I can, and ought
to imply a new agreemcent that the contract
period should be extended beyond November 15,
1918, that is until the defendant had given
a notice to the plaintiff requiring delivery
within a reasonable period™,

My . Henriques' riposte to the arguments of

dir, Macaulay is that there was no variation at all. Mr. Macaul:

ne said had not observed the differcnce between the formation
and the performance of the contract. He contended that the
agreed consideration of §80,0006 was not reduced or increased,
The obligation to pay the agreed purchase price remained,and
indecd, the plaintiff/respondent was oblipged to pay the balance
of $50,000 which could be discharged by vmayment by cheque,
cash or any other equivalent. In fact Canadian dollars were
accepted as part payment of the balance, and the plaintiff/
respondent had discharged the purchase price to that extent,
by a substantial payment to the Managing Director of the
defendant company. He did not cite =z2ay authorities for the
propositicn regarding the performance of the contract.

In the circumstances, I have thought fit to enquire

a little further inteo what McCardie, J. in Hartley v, Hymans

(192¢G) All E.R. Ren. at p. 338 described the cases . as showing:

"an unhappy confusion of authority, and this
cmbarassing ambiguity of principle®.
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Similarly, Geddard, J., as he then was, remarked that:

“It often happens, when e¢ither scct. 4 or
sect, 17 of the Sale of Goods Act has to be
considered that the cases arc found to be
somewhat difficult of rcconciliation, and this
casc 1s no exception. In Stead v. Dawber
(1838) 10 Ad. & E1. 57; 97L.J.G. 10T, the
Court found it difficult to reconcile the casc

(;j of Gess v. Nugent (Lord), with Cuff v. Penn

- (1813) 1 4 & S 21; andsgtead v. Dawber though

the facts were similar, had in turn to be
distinguished by the Court in Hickman v. Haynes
{(1875) L.R. 10 C.P., 5%9&%,

He added that:

"Hiclkman v.Haynes {was) another case of a
verbal request to allow instalments to stand
over, where it was held that the statute was
no answer, In the folleowing year, in Plevins
v. Downing (1876) 1 C.P.C. 220, a very
similar case it was decided that it was'.

Q»\ Goddard, J. at p. 555-556 ¢xpressed:

“the underlying principle which will explain
the different results 1n cases which at first
sight appear to be so alike in point of fact.
From these two last cited cases I think it is
nossible to extract a nrincinle and it scems
to me tc be this. If the marties agree to
rescind their original contract and to
substitute for it a new cne, the latter must
be evidenced by writing. So too, if, as a
matter of contract, the pariies agree that
the terms of the original agreement shall be
varicd, the variation must be in writing. 3But
if what happens is a merc voluntary forbearance
) to insist on delivery or acceptance according
K': to the strict terms of the written contract,
- the original contract remains unaffected and
the obligation to deliver and to accept the
full contract quantity still continues®.

In the light cof the foregoing discussion I have coms
to the conclusion that the pleaded vaviation in this case was
not such a variation as went to the root of the agreement for
sale. The rights of the parties were not at all changed by
the arrangement wade between the plaintiff/respondent, and

<”W HMr. Chin, the managing director and agent for the defendant/

N appellant. True it is that the latter failed to assert its
rights when the plaintif{f/respondent did unot complete by the
agreed date. But what eventuated thereaiter enured to the

henefit of the defendant/appellant. In my view the
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unchalienged evidence is that not only would time have been
extended | and interest paid on the amount outstanding on the
purchase money, but Mr., Chin accepted the $10,000 Canadian in
reduction of that balance. When the defendant/z2ppellant,
through its agent, accepted the benefit of the arrangement,
it i1s my view that the matter departed from the scopc of the
previous authorities, in that in sgach of those cases the
application of the principle for which lMr. Macaulay contended
. upon a mere request by the party

depended greatly/in default and the consequent forbearance or
walver by the party who was ready and willing to perform the
contract. In the present case there was an arrangement
altering the mode or manner of performance which was not
intended to substitute one agreement for the other. It would
be 1nequitable to deprive the plaintiff/respondent of the
benefit of his payment of the disputed amount. And this,
especially so when there was no pleading contrary to the
assertion in the pleadings of the plaintiff/respondent, and
more importantly, no evidence to exnressly contradict the
evidence of the plaintiff/respondent. The impression is that
the parties in fact mutually acted upon the arrangement, which
I repeat resulted in substantial benefit to the defendant/
appellant.

Accordingly in the circumstances of this case, [ am
of the decided cprinion that we should approve the decision of
Alexander, J.A. (Ag.), in ordering the deduction of the sum
of $10,00C Canadian from the balance of the purchase-money;
the Canadian sum to be converted at the rate of exchange in
June,; 1620,

I would therefore dismiss the appeal 1n its entirety,

ubject to that sentence in the judgment which ordered TAll
sums due to be paid to the defendant within ninety days of the
13th July, 1984'. A new date should be substituted for

that date,
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22.
CAMPBELL JLA,

The primary facts have been fully set out in the
judgment of the learned President.l will accordingly advert
only to such facts as relate to and are necessary in
considering a particular ground of appeal.

Ground 1 of the appeal complains that the judgment
on the respondent's claim is against the weight of the

evidence in that:

(1) the documents in evidence together
with the oral evidence established
that time was of the essence of the
contract;

(2) despite this, the respondent had up
to date of the trial made payment
of only the deposit of $30,000.00
and was still even at that date
unable to provide the balance of the
purchase price;

(3) he was contrary to his pleading not
ready willing and able to provide
the balance of the purchase money.

On the counterclaim of the appellant, the judgment wa:
also against the weight of the evidence in that the respondent
as a mere prospective purchaser was not authorised to lease tha
property before the balance of the purchase price had been paid
He was accordingly liable for mesne profits.

On tne issue of payment towards the purchase price,
the respondent in his reply and defence to counter-claim
specifically pleaded that he made an additional payment of
$10,000.00 (Canadian) to the appellant through its servant and/
or agent Mr. Alvin Chin. He pgave evidence of this payment and
of other payments represcnting fees for extension of the date
for completion of the contract. Retired Canadian cheques
payable to Mr. Chin and encashed by him were admitted in evidence
as Exhibit 1. He was not challenged that the payments which
were undoubtedly made by him, were in connection with some

transaction other than the sale transaction with the appellant.

Document (7) in the agreed bundle signed by Mr. Chin and addresccd
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to the respondent is at the least an admission of the receipt
of certain payments being fees for extension of what is agreed
to be the contract of sale. This gives crcdence to the
respondent's evidence as to the payment of the $10,000.00
(Canadian). Mr. Chin was not called by the appelliant to con-
tradict the evidence that payments received by him including
the $10,000.00 (Canadian) werc other than payments to the
appellant through him. In this state of the evidence the
finding of the learned judge that the payment by the respondent
of C$10,000.00 on June 16, 1980 and the interest of C$§200.00
per month thereafter, were made to the appellant in connection
with the contract of sale was amply justified on the evidence
and he was not in error in not finding that only $30,000.00 had
been paid.

On the issue of time being of the essence, the learncd
judge considered the relevant authorities cited to him. He also
considered the criteria for determining whether the contractual
date for performance in a contract for the sale of land is to be
construed as intended by the parties as being of the essence of
the contract. He applied the principles derived from the cited
cases and the criteria for ascertaining the intention of the
parties, to the case before him and correctly concluded that from
the agreed documents tendered in evidence and the oral evidence,
time had not oripinally been expressly made of the essence of the
contract nor did the circumstances of the transaction or the
subject matter justify time being considered of the essence of
the contract. Further, time had not been made¢ so at any subscquet
time prior to the purported determination of the contract on
December 4, 1980. This being the case, the purported determination
was ineffectual, the contract remained subsisting and was capable

of being specifically enforced.



b 6t

24.

On the issue that the respondent, even at the date of
trial, was not able to pay the balance of the purchase price
the respondent stated in his evidence that though he could not
then produce the money, he was in a position to find the money
to complete the transaction. The learned judge found on the
evidence that the respondent's present inability to find the
money to complete was due to the act of the appellant in
thwarting the efforts of the respondent in securing mortgage
finance from Jamaica National which efforts were then at an

advanced stage of satisfactory conclusion. Doubtless this was
the reason why the learned judge in decreeing specific
performance, granted the respondent a period of S0 days from the
date of the judgment within which to put in place again the
arrangements for securing mortgage finance.

The submission of Mr. Macaulay considered in the
context of the evidence both documentary and oral is without
substance. The learned judge's analysis of the cvidence, his
reasoning, and conclusions drawn from such evidence cannot be
faulted. It cannot accordingly be said that his judgment on the
respondent's claim was against the weight of the evidence.

Turning now to the counter-claim as amended, which
was dismissed, this was for refund of mesne profits of $400 per
month with interest to the date of recovery of possession and
damages for breach of the contract dated 26th day of Junc, 1979.

With regard to the claim for damages for breach of
contract, sufficient has been szid elsewhere in this opinion to
show that contrary to the respondent being in breach it was the
appellant who attempted by its conduct to breach the aforesaid

contract.
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With regard to the claim for mesne profits Mr. Macaulay
submits that where a purchaser is let into possession before
transfer he is merely a tenant at will with no power to let or
rent the property of the vendor unless so authorised. If in such
circumstances the prospective purchaser lets the premises he mus~
account to the vendor. The short answer to this submission 1is
that, on the evidence;the respondent was impliedly authorised to
let the premises because he was given possession subject to an
¢xisting tenancy, and to ensure his acceptance of the premises sc
tenanted there was inserted a special condition in the contract
of sale. This ground of appeal fails, as being without
substance.

Ground 2 of the appeal complains thatthe learned judge
in finding that a part of the balance of the purchase price of
$50,000.00 had been paid in Canadian dollars, erred in law in that
by so doing he was accepting and relying on an oral variation of
the written contract dated June 26, 1979 which cral variation was
unenforceable.

Before vs Mr. Macaulay submitted quite tersely that
since the written contract datedJune 26, 1979 was one rclating to
iand, it could not be varied except in writing. The aforesaid
contract provided for payment in Jamaican dollars. The evidence o:
payment of part of the balance of the purchase¢ price in Canadian
dollars amounted tc evidence of a vyariation of the contract which
variation not having bcen prOved to be in writing was unenforceable
and accordingly ineffectual. Therefore that part of the learned
judge's order directing the reduction of the balance of the purchase
price by the equivalent in Jamaican dollars of $10,000.00 (Canadian)
must be excised.

Mr. Henriques on the other hand submitted that therc
hus been no variation of this written contract. There is, he said,
no evidence that the contract had been varied to require payment

from the respondent of a purchase price greater or less than that
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provided for in the contract, neither had the respondent bound
himself to pay any sum in Canadian dollars nor had the appeliant
placed itself under any obligation to accept payment in

Canadian doliars in discharge of the respondent's obligation to

pay the balance of the purchase price. The Canadian dollars were
merely proferred by the respondent in part settlement of the
obligation to pay in Jamaican dollars and were voluntarily acceptod
by the appellant through its agent.

Mr. Henrigues in thus asserting that there was no
variation of the contract impliedly asscrts that what was arranged
was merely a waiver of the mode of performance which waiver, unlike
a variation, need not be in writing. The difficulty in acceptin;
Mr. Henriques' submission which is otherwise eminently reasonable
and meritorious arises frem the fact that the respondent has
himself expressly pleaded a variation of the agreement.

The appellant was however the one who set the stage fcr
this difficulty by pleading a "mutual agreement' to extend the time
of completion of the contract. By paragraphs3 and 4 of the Deferce,
the appellant pleaded as follows:

X

"3, The defendant says that the plaintiff
failed to complete the said agreement
on the aforesaid date (26th June,

1980) and consequently by mutual agree-
ment the defendant granted to the
plaintiff an extension of 3 months
expiring on the 30th of Sceptember, 1980C
within which to pay the balance of the
purchase price.”

4. The defendant says that the plaintiff
in breach of the said agreement again
failed to pay the balance cf the
purchase price on the 30th September,
1980."
It is to be noted that the "mutual agreement' which
undoubtedly amounted to a variation of the original contract is
not explicitly pleaded to have been in writing even though the

appellant is relying on it.
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The respondent in answer to the above paragraphs plead:.d
in paragraphs 2 and 3 of his Reply as follows:

"2. That the plaintiff denies that he was :
in breach of the said apgreement when
he failed to pay the balance of purchase
price on or before the 30th September,
198C as alleged in paragraph 4 of the
Defence or at all.

3. The plaintiff says that it was mutuall
agreed between the Defendant th?ﬁﬁéﬁ—“z
1ts servant and/or agent, Mr. Alvin Chin,
and the plaintiff that the time within
which the plaintiff should complete the
transaction should be extended on the
basis of a payment cf $200 (Canadian)
monthly pending the sale by the
plaintiff of other property cwned by him
and in pursuance of the said variaticn ;
of the agreement the plaintiff paid to
the defendant through its servant and/or
agent, Mr. Alvin Chin the sum of C$10,000.
(Ten Thousand Dollars Canadian) on the
19th June, 1980 and further sums
totalling C$1,600.00 (One Thousand Six
Hundred Dollars - Canadian) between the
7th August, 1980 and the 30th December,
1980.

The respondent's evidence at the trial regarding this

variation of the agreement is to the feollowing effect:

“"After the twelve months, Chin and I had a
discussion in the matter. It was the
same Chin who signed the Agreement. We
both went to see Mr. McFarlane. Some
arrangement was made:

the arrangement

$10,000 Canadian to be paid to Chin and

he would give a mortgage for what was
left. He then changed his mind by saying
he weould not give the mortgage to me
anymore, he would leave it open until I
scld the house and paid him. The interest
was $200.00 per month (Canadian) Mr.
McFarlane was there. It was in his office
teveseseseanc. I paid the §10,000 by
certified cheque."

The crocss-examination on this issue was directed sclely
to correcting the evidence as to the time of the discussion and is

recorded thus:
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"Before 26th June, 1980, I infcrmed Chin

that I could not meet the deadlinc.

Chin and I came down to Jamaica as a

result. Did not have meeting with

Mr. Chin and Mr. Lowe. Never saw Chin

until the day after when we were in

McFarlane's office. Had nc meeting with

Mr. Lowe. Don't know if McFarlane 1is

coming to give evidence for me. Did not

see¢ Lowe 1in McFarlanc¢'s office.

On the pleadings the inference could properly be

drawn that there was only one arreement for the variation of the
contract, with the appellant contending that its terms provided
only for an extension of the date of completion to 30th September,
1980, while the respondent was asserting that the variation
involved a payment by him of C$10,000.00 in reduction of the
balance of the purchase price and an extension of time until he
sold his house during which time he was required to pay interest
fixed at C$200.00 per month. At trial it was not even faintly
suggested that no such agreement as given in evidence by the
respondent was entered intc. Nor was any questicn addressed to
the issue whether this variation agreement was in writing. In
these circumstances the inference could properly be drawn that
the agreement plecaded by the appellant tc which the respondent
referred in his pleading was in writing or if net in writing the
agreement was treated by them merely as a waiver cof the strict
terms of the contract which was not required to be in writing.
If the latter was the case then since this waiver preceeded the
breach of the strict contractual terms, as evidenced by the paym nt
of the $10,000.00 (Canadian) on 19th June, 1980, justice would
demand that there be no issue entertained on appeal on the
unenforceability of this agreement based on the assertion that
the agreement amounted to a variation which was required to be in
writing, instead of it being a mere waiver nct required to be in

writing. The appellant cught not to be allowed to repudiate its

cwn pleading by submitting in effect befcre us that it was oral.
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The variation agreement even if oral, is not void buz
merely unenforceable. The privilege of rendering it unenforceabli:
is that of the party against whom it is being asserted. This
privilege can be waived and in fact will be treated as waived
unless the unenforceability of the agreement is expressly pleaded.
In this regard Mr. Macaulay submitted that it was impossible for
the appellant to have pleaded that the alleged variation
agreement under which the $10,000.00 (Canadian) was paid was
unenforceable due to the absence of writing, since the appellant
had already denied receiving any such sum and it would thereforce
be engaging in inconsistent pleading which is impermissible.

Mr. Macaulay relied on section 179 of the Judicature (Civil
Procedure Code) Law which states that:

"No pleading not being a petition or summons,
shall excent by way of amendment, raise any
new ground of claim or contaln any
allegation of fact inconsistent with the

previous pleadings of the party pleading
the same.™ (emphasis mine)

The section as is plain to be seen, does not however
prohibit inconsistent averments; what it prescribes is that the
inconsistent averments must be contained in the same pleading
either as originally drafted or by subsequent amendment. In this
case not only could the defence have been amended in the light of
the matter pleaded in paragraph 3 of the reply but it became
mandatory that it should have been amended to plead specifically
the absence of writing if such a plea was being relied on as this
was a matter which would render the variation agreement menticnod
in the said paragraph 3 of the reply unenforceable. Section 178
of the Judicature (Civil Procedure Code) Law is controling in

this regard. It reads thus:
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"178. The defendant or plaintiff (as the
case may be) must raise by his
nleading all matters which show the
acticn or counter-~claim not to be
maintainable or that the transaction
1s either void or vecidable in point
of law, and all such grounds of
defence or reply as the case may be,
as 1f not raised would be likely to
take the opposite party by surprise.”
(emphasis mine)

Section 178 of our Law corresponds to Ord. 19 rule 15
cf the Annual Practice 1962 and the comment thereon by the learned

authors runs thus at p. 475:

"It cften is not enough for a party
to deny an allegation in his opponent's
pleading; he must gc¢ further and
dispute its validity in law ....... oo
Thus if the plaintifft sets up a
contract which was in fact made, it
will be idle for the defendant merely
to traverse (i.e. deny) the making of
the contract; he should confess (i.e.
admit) that he made the contract, but
avoid the effect of the confession by
pleading the statute of Frauds .......
Any number of defences may now be
pleaded together in the same defence,
although they are obviously inconsistent.®

At page 479 it is expressly stated that the Statute of
Frauds (which is applicable in the present case) must be specificaliv
pleaded, if the defendant desires to rely on it.

In the absence of such a specific pleading the privilege
of the appellant is deemed to have been waived. The learned judve
was accordingly not in error in making his finding which was amply
supported on the evidence that $10,000.00 (Canadian) had been paid
to the appellant towards liquidation of the balance c¢f the purchasc
price and accordingly should be deducted from the balance payable.

There is no merit in this ground of appeal which
therefore fails,

The respondent by Notice filed on January 4, 1985
intimated his intention of secking a variation of the Learned
judge's decision by having included therein an order to the

following effects
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"That the plaintiff/respondent is entitled
to rents accruing due from the said
premises part of Mount Nelson, Manchester
from the 17th January, 1981 or alternatively
damages for breach of the Agreement for
Sale of the said premises,"

The learned judge in declining to award damages to the
respondent impliedly found that the respondent was entitled tc
the rent but reasoned that the vendor was also entitled to
intérest on the unpaid balance of the purchase price from the
date of completion as extended, on the hypothesis that the
respondent was in possession, enjoying the profits from the land.
The appellant on the evidence repossessed itself of the land and
of the profits equivalent to $400.00 rental per month from 17th
January, 1981. This amount the learned judge considered would be
equivalent to the interest which the respondent would have had tco
pay to the appellant had the said respondent continued to be in
possession. No order as sought in the respondent's notice was
therefore made. The relevant part of the learned judge's judgment
reads thus:

"The vendor is therefore entitled to interest
on the unpaid balance of the purchase price
to date. The unpaid balance of the purchase
price, on my findings, would amount to
upwards of $35,000.00 (Ja.). Fixing a
reasonable rate of interest to that unpaid
balance, could, in my view, earn to the
vendor, a sum equivalent to the rental

ccllected monthly, that is to say, a sum of
$400.00 (Ja.).

It therefore follows that the rental collected
by vendor, could be equivalent to the sum the
plaintiff would have been entitled to pay as
interest on the unpaid balance of the purchase
price. In these circumstances, there 1is,
therefore no award to the plaintiff for
damages."

Mr. Henriques submitted that the learned judge failed
to appreciate that under the agreement for sale of the premises
the respondent was entitled to rents accruing due from the said
premises of which he has been deprived by the appellant's wrong-

ful act of re-possession. This complaint is not well-founded
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because as earlier stated, the learned judge rightly or wrong¥y
proceeded on the assumption that the respondent was entitled to
the rent, but that the vendor in witholding the said rent was
merely appropriating it in settlement of interest which the
learned judge concluded was payable to him on the unpaid balance
of the purchase price. As there is nc complaint and rightly so,
against the learned judge's conclusicn that interest was payable
on the unpaid balance of the purchase price, there exists no
ground for seeking a variation of his decision.

I would accordingly dismiss the appellant's appeal and

also the respondent's notice of variation.



